IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 64,237

Fourth District Case Nos.

82-1332 82-1992 82-1341 82-1993 82-1597 82-2070

82-1686 82-2078

FILED

OCT 12 1983

FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND, and FLORIDA MEDICAL CENTER, INC., d/b/a Florida Medical Center

CLANDE DEPUTY CLARK

Appellants,

vs.

SUSAN ANN VON STETINA, by and through her parents, legal guardians and next friends, MARY VON STETINA and LEO VON STETINA,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF

Attorneys for Florida Patient's Compensation Fund

| | Total | \$12,473,250 |

The Fund and the Hospital maintain that, even if liability were completely conceded, a 12.47 million dollar judgment is not proper. The courts below erred, however, in entering and approving a lump sum figure

^{*} Even the Fourth District concluded that Exhibit 24 was erroneously admitted, and this brief will demonstrate that this was not only error but reversible error.

^{**} This concession by the Fund is made for a number of practical considerations and it implies no concession by the hospital nor any insinuation by the Fund about the hospital's conduct. Indeed, the Hospital continues here to contest the validity of the jury's determination of liability.

for future medical and nursing care and lost earnings (items 2 and 4) and in allowing the pain and suffering awards (items 5 and 6).

Appellants also challenge two constitutional rulings of the trial court, which were adopted by the Fourth District. The trial court invalidated two subsections of the statute governing the Fund's operation, Sections 768.54(2)(b) and 768.54(3)(e)3. (1981). The former, subsection (2)(b), limits the liability of Fund members for claims covered by the Fund to \$100,000 and contemplates that the rest of the liability will be borne by the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund. Despite this clear statutory scheme, however, the trial court held that both the Fund and Hospital should be jointly and severally liable for the full \$12.4 million (plus attorneys fees). Florida Medical Center was thus denied the medical malpractice protection it was promised by the Florida Statutes when it joined the Fund, after the time for purchasing other protection had passed.

The trial court also held that the appellants had to pay the entire award in a lump sum, contrary to a provision of the Fund statute which requires payment of certain elements of damages in installments. All these issues -- validity of the verdict, limitation of liability, and payout of damages -- were preserved by timely notices of appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

Opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal

Appellants' primary point for reversal of the basic liability and damages judgment was that the trial court erred in admitting Plaintiff's Exhibit 24* which was, in the words of the Fourth District opinion, "an

 $[\]star$ The full text of this article is reprinted in argument I.A. below, at 13-14.

imaginary account written in the first person about a helpless patient's state of mind when a respirator malfunctioned." The Fourth District agreed that admitting it was erroneous, that the article was "fiction", an "emotional account", and "most moving", but still found its admission to be harmless error. Opinion at 17-19.

The Fourth District concluded that the 7.5 million dollar award for future care was supportable because it was just "simple arithmetic" -- 40 years of life expectancy times \$188,400 a year* -- and that the 4.1 million dollar pain and suffering verdict given to a semi-comatose patient, while "admittedly at the maximum of any reasonable range", Opinion at 3, was reasonable since the Court concluded, as a fact, that she "possesses all the senses in varying degree . . . has some understanding, and must endure incessant pain and suffering." Opinion at 3-4. (Emphasis added to the portion of the quotation which is contrary to record).

Having approved the liability and damage verdict, the District Court then faced the two-step issue of the applicability of the payout provisions of the Fund's statute. The court first needed to decide whether the 1982 version of the Fund statute (which provided future medical expenses would be paid as they were needed) applied rather than the 1976 payout version, which had limited the Fund's annual payments to \$100,000 a year on any given claim. Although the case was on appeal and no damages had yet been paid the Fourth District concluded, without explanation, that applying the 1982 version would be impermissibly "retroactive."

^{*} This "simple arithmetic" is admittedly much easier since there is <u>no</u> calculation for reduction to present worth. The Fourth District opinion leaves intact the verdict based on the plaintiff's trial counsel's "cancellation economics" theory.

The trial court, after finding the \$100,000 payout limit of the 1976 statute to be applicable, had held it unconstitutional as (1) an encroachment on the inherent power of the courts; (2) unconstitutional "when applied to the facts in this case" since \$100,000 a year was less than the jury awarded for medical care; and (3) an invidious discrimination against malpractice victims who suffer more serious damage. The Fourth District quoted the trial court's argument, Opinion at 4-7, adopted it, but then added the apologetic caveat:

Our use of this language on these constitutional findings should not be interpreted to suppose that we embrace each and every word thereof. However, time appears to be of the essence and to craft our own versions of the unconstitutionality would incur considerable delay. (Opinion at 11-12.)

The Fourth District treated the issue of the nature of protection given a Fund member in a comparable manner. Essentially, the Fourth District -- like the trial court -- recognized that the Fund statute, in particular \$768.54(2)(b), exempts a Fund member from payment of more than \$100,000* on any covered claim. The Fourth District held this provision, known as the "limitation of liability" provision, unconstitutional as an "encroachment upon the powers granted exclusively to the judicial branch of the government." The Fourth District silently refused to adopt the view, relied on by the plaintiffs and the trial court, that the "limitation of liability" provision denied plaintiffs "access to courts."

^{*} The actual statute states, \$100,000 or the Fund member's primary coverage, whichever is greater. Since Florida Medical Center's primary coverage is \$100,000, the \$100,000 figure is the relevant one and will be used throughout this brief.

Facts Relating to the Attorney's Fee Award

Mr. Schlesinger, the attorney for the Von Stetinas, testified that Susan Von Stetina's parents and legal guardians first came to his office in March of 1981 (A. 589). In April, 1981 Mr. Schlesinger and his client entered a contingency fee contract—he would receive 40% of any recovery, or 50% if there were an appeal (A. 589-90). The complaint was filed on April 2, 1981. Mr. Schlesinger discussed with his clients the law which allowed the prevailing party to recover attorney's fees (A. 589-90). Presumably, therefore, it was clear to both attorney and client that Mr. Schlesinger would be seeking payment from the defendants.

Although he intended to look to the defendants for payment of legal fees if the plaintiff prevailed, Mr. Schlesinger did <u>not</u> keep time records. His appointment diary, however, was one measure of his efforts.* The

^{*} The first appointment for the <u>Von Stetina</u> case was a hearing on motion to strike punitive damages on April 27 (A. 532). Before that, Schlesinger did not remember spending any time on the case, and he conducted a one-week products liability trial after the <u>Von Stetina</u> complaint was filed (A. 531). The week of May 18, 1981, Schlesinger prosecuted another four-day trial unconnected to the <u>Von Stetina</u> matter (A. 533-34). On June 15 there were discovery motions on <u>Von Stetina</u> (A. 535-36). The week of July 13, Schlesinger had another three or four-day trial unrelated to <u>Von Stetina</u> (A. 538). A <u>Von Stetina</u> motion was heard on July 15 (A. 538).

From August 3 to September 11, Schlesinger conducted a six-week products liability trial against Toyota Motor Co. Not surprisingly, this case took up all his time at least for those six weeks (A. 540). Through September and October, Schlesinger worked on four other cases; three settled, and one at least began trial (A. 543-44). Throughout all this time, Schlesinger did not remember working on the <u>Von Stetina</u> case, or that his office had "any investigation ongoing" (A. 545).

On November 2, Schlesinger's diary reflects a conference with Mrs. Von Stetina (A. 545-46). Depositions on the Von Stetina matter began in mid-November (A. 546-47), although the process speeded up in February (A. 558-65). Schlesinger worked on some twenty other matters from mid-November to the time of the Von Stetina trial, which ran from March 15 to 26, 1982 (A. 547-66). Most of these matters settled, but one was thoroughly prepared (A. 554), and another malpractice case went to trial for two days in February (A. 559).

appointment diary reflects that Schlesinger spent minimal time on the <u>Von</u>

<u>Stetina</u> case before November 1981, and for the five-month period beginning in November worked on many matters in addition to <u>Von Stetina</u>. This is consistent with statements at the pretrial conference that Schlesinger began work on this case in earnest in November 1981 (A. 274, 283).

A second objective measure of the effort spent on the case is the measure of defense effort which, unlike the plaintiff's work, was recorded. Kevin O'Brien, who defended the case throughout, testified that he spent 845 hours on this case. (A. 593-94). O'Brien was present at every deposition, hearing, or motion where Schlesinger was present (AFD. 12-14).

Mr. Schlesinger presented two witnesses to support his application for a fee -- J.B. Spence and Robert Montgomery -- both noted plaintiff's personal injury attorneys with experience in medical malpractice cases.

Neither claimed any special familiarity with the <u>Von Stetina</u> case but both testified that the proper fee was 40% of the 12.4 million dollar judgment.

Mr. Schlesinger also testified on his own behalf. From his admission to the bar in 1954 (A. 584), he has been a plaintiff's personal injury lawyer (A. 585). He has tried many medical malpractice cases, but does not specialize in them (A. 585-86). Mr. Schlesinger testified that he was "entitled to a fee of at least \$5,000,000, or \$5,500,000, or \$6,000,000, none of which I feel would be unreasonable" (A. 588). The "most important" justification for fees of this magnitude, to Schlesinger, was that they met with his clients' approval (A. 588).*

^{*} It was, however, not suprising that the clients (by which Schlesinger presumably meant Susan's parents) were so complaisant, since they would not be paying the fee.

Defendants presented two expert witnesses who testified on the "reasonable attorney's fee" issue. William Thompson, an experienced medical malpractice plaintiff's attorney, testified that a fee of \$300,000 would be reasonable (AFD. 30). This involved a fee of \$250/hour for 1000 hours and a \$5000/day bonus for trial work.* John Neely, a medical malpractice defense lawyer, testified for a fee averaging \$500 an hour, or \$500,000 for a generously estimated 1000 hours (AFD. 48).

Although the trial court organized its opinion in terms of the factors of DR 2-106(B), the court awarded a percentage of recovery fee "in line with the type of fee arrangement made between counsel and his client" (A. 36). Thus, the judge in effect ordered a fee of 35% of the verdict, or \$4.4 million. The trial court's award of 35% of the jury verdict amounted to \$88,000 a week for each of the 50 weeks from the time the complaint was filed until verdict and it appears from Schlesinger's own deposition that only token effort occurred before the last 19 weeks of the year. A more accurate calculation would determine the fee as \$231,000 a week. If it is generously assumed Schlesinger spent 1000 hours in the case, the attorney's fee awarded by the trial court comes to \$4400 an hour. It is this attorney's fee which was appealed as unreasonable under §768.56. The Fourth District reversed, correctly recognizing that the contingency fee factor was "uppermost in [the trial court's | mind." However, the Court found a fee of \$1.5 million to be appropriate. No objective rationale for this figure was given. The Fourth District reduction of the award still leaves it at the level of more than \$1500 an hour.

^{*} The assumption that the plaintiff's attorney worked 155 more hours than defense counsel has no real basis in the facts and is favorable to plaintiff. Under William Thompson's calculations, the plaintiff is given an additional \$50,000 over the hourly rate calculation--\$25,000 per week of trial.

The Fund's Origin and Operation

In order for this Court to be aware of the reason the Fund is in this case, and to place the case in perspective, we include a brief discussion of the nature of the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund. The concept of the Fund was upheld by this Court against constitutional attack in Department of Insurance, State of Florida v. Southeast Volusia Hospital District, ____ So.2d ____, 8 Fla.L.Wk. S.Ct.354 (Fla., Sept. 15, 1983). In that case, this Court described the Fund as follows:

The Fund, which commenced operation in 1975, is a non-profit entity which provides medical malpractice protection to the physcians and hospitals who join it. . . The Fund is financed through base fees paid by its members, additional fees, and assessments. . . . The provisions of the statute plainly satisfy the purpose of the statute, namely, to provide medical malpractice protection for Florida health care providers under terms accepted by the participants.

The essential terms accepted by the participants were, as this Court recognized in Southeast Volusia, set out in the statute, §768.54.

- (1) Members receive from the Fund:
 - (a) Statutory limitation of liability,
 - (b) Fund obligation to pay all judgments or settlements over \$100,000,
 - (c) Possibility of refund if fees are excessive.
- (2) Members give to the Fund:
 - (a) Fees set at time of joining a particular Fund year.
 - (b) Promise to pay future assessments if fees are insufficient.

The purpose of the Fund is two-fold: (1) providing a substitute means of payment to medical malpractice plaintiffs (as many Florida health

care providers are not required by law to be financially responsible) and (2) providing medical malpractice protection to Florida health care providers. These are plainly valid substantive purposes. See Southeast Volusia; Carter v. Sparkman, 335 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1041 (1977); and Pinillos v. Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corp., 403 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981). Since the Fund is non-profit, it will have a larger portion of its fees available to pay claims than a private insurance company.

Plaintiff might wish the Fund were an insurance company rather than a limitation of liability device,* but this was not what the Legislature created. Moreover, the terms of the contract cannot be reformed now, after Florida Medical Center has joined the Fund, relying on the <u>actual</u> contract provided by the Florida statutes in effect at the time of its joinder, and after it has foregone all opportunities for other protection. The parties therefore deal with the actual terms of the Fund statute, and not what plaintiff would like them to be, or the statute one's ideal legislature would have written.

^{*} Other than the limitation of liability, there are various other differences between the Fund and insurance companies. First, the Fund is run by a publicly-appointed board and decisions which would be business decisions in the case of an insurance company (for instance, the order of payment of claims) are subject to pervasive statutory regulation in the case of the Fund. Moreover, the Fund has no underwriting authority, but must take all Florida health care providers who elect to join and can not accept any members other than Florida health care providers. Third, the Fund operates so that each year is kept separate from all others and money from one year cannot be used to pay claims attributable to a different Fund year. Fourth, members join for a particular Fund year and are liable for assessments should member claims exceed fees originally paid. Finally, for the relevant years, the Fund had no authority to set "policy limits." Its exposure, and consequently, the protection accorded under the Fund concept to Florida health care providers members, was limitless.

ARGUMENT

I.

APPELLANTS ARE ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL ON DAMAGES.*

A. The Admission of Plaintiff's Exhibit 24 was Reversible Error.

Appellants argued to the Fourth District that Exhibit 24, "an imaginary account written in the first person about a helpless patient's state of mind when a respirator malfunctions," Opinion at 17-18, was erroneously admitted. The Fourth District agreed with appellants that admission of the Exhibit was error:

This particular work of fiction was not presented by its author and there was no predicate whatsoever that the plaintiff, or any other patient for that matter, had actually endured such thoughts and emotions under this or similar circumstances. Courts are supposed to deal in facts not fiction and we, therefore, believe error occurred.

Opinion at 18.

The Fourth District's candid opinion reveals that the panel agonized over the impact of this exhibit. They "deliberated long and hard on whether

^{*} The Hospital additionally urges the following argument concerning Plaintiff's Exhibit 24, and incorporates those parallel arguments it adopted below before the Fourth District, see appellant Fund's Initial Brief Number I, Section IV.A. (1) through (3), as grounds for reversal of this case on all issues, including that of liability. Although cast here as error prejudicing appellants by improper inflation of the verdict, the erroneous admission of Exhibit 24 could, and did, equally prejudice the Hospital's right to a fair determination of the question of its liability. Accordingly, the Hospital respectfully requests that this Court additionally consider this evidentiary issue as grounds for a complete reversal of the judgement.

this error was reversible," Opinion at 18, but, after their deliberations, still held this error not reversible since it "did not materially affect the outcome." Opinion at 19. The Fourth District was correct to find error but wrong to find the error harmless.

The Court correctly recognized that the article was, on its face and on the cold record, emotional and deeply moving. This is the text of Exhibit 24:

"Yeech, I'm choking. Oh, Christ, I'm dying.

"Not enough air. Walls vibrating. Closing in. Taking up all the air,

"No air.

"Suffocating.

"Please help. Help me. <u>I screamed</u>, but there was only silence.

"Can't talk. Something in my throat. No air.

"Help.

"Oh, God. Oh, God, please help.

"Whoosh. Swoosh. Shoosh, Swoosh. Endless.

"Someone's soft hand rubbing my arm in rhythm to the sound. It's easier now. The air is filling my lungs. It is no longer necessary to struggle for each breath.

"What if it stopped? Oh, God, what if it stopped?

"A lot of people are standing around my bed. Swaying back and forth in a pool of light. Buzz. Buzz.

"It is dark. Everything is quiet, except for the comforting, whooshing and swooshing of my machine. I am still alive. My body hurts. My chest is sore and aching. My arms are burning. Nurses are gliding about the room from bed to bed, whispering. I adjust my eyes to the darkness.

"What time is it? What day is it? How long have I been here? Did I sleep? It is so dark it must be night, but which night? There are no words for that kind of terror. Nobody could know. Nobody. I wish I could tell them. It would be so much easier if I could just tell them. If they could just understand, but they can't and I haven't the words to tell them.

"Suddenly I hear a sound. Just a tiny squeak. It's coming from the machine. With every breath I take, a squeak.

"Oh, help. What is wrong? If the machine is broken I'll die. I don't want to die. I'm not ready. I have too many things to say. I'm not finished yet. My eyes frantically search the room. I try to lift my hands but they are tied. Help. Help. Not a sound. I can't talk. The tube.

"Something is wrong. What is that noise? Don't you hear it? You're supposed to hear it. Please come and fix it. Frantically I bang the rails of my bed. Tap, tap. I see the nurse across the room stop and listen.

"I'll be there in a minute.

"A minute. I haven't got a minute. You have to come now. Can't you hear the noise? Don't you know my life depends on that machine?

"What's the matter? Can't you hear what's the matter? My eyes shift from the machine to her and back. My lips form the word machine. She doesn't understand. She can't read lips or eyes.

"She doesn't understand it. I will try again. She is trying.

"What day is it?

(A.94) (Emphasis added).

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