CASE NO. 64,237

FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSA-TION FUND and FLORIDA MEDICAL CENTER, INC. d/b/a FLORIDA MEDICAL CENTER,

Appellants,

vs.

SUSAN ANN VON STETINA, by and through her parents, legal guardians and next friends, MARY VON STETINA and LEO VON STETINA,

Appellee.

FILED

NOV 28 1983

SID J. WHITE CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clork

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE SUSAN ANN VON STETINA

SHELDON J. SCHLESINGER, P.A. 1212 S.E. 3rd Avenue Ft. Lauderdale, Fla. 33335 -and-PODHURST, ORSECK, PARKS, JOSEFS-BERG, EATON, MEADOW & OLIN, P.A. 25 W. Flagler Street, Suite 1201 Miami, Fla. 33130 (305) 358-2800

Attorneys for Appellee

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

In short, if the Hospital's nurses had heeded the teaching of the Hospital's own teaching material, Susan would not have been ignored, and thereby brain-damaged--and we were entitled to show that to the jury, whether the article in question was fact, fiction, opinion, or something else. See, e.g., WEBB v. FULLER BRUSH CO., 378 F.2d 500 (3rd Cir. 1967) (published articles concerning dangers inherent in certain facial creams admissible to support claim that seller of creams should have known that its product might be dangerous to users); UNITED STATES v. GIESE, 597 F.2d 1170 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 979, 100 S. Ct. 480, 62 L. Ed.2d 405 (1979) (where criminal defendant placed books in evidence as representative of the type he sold, to demonstrate his peaceable character, proper for government to read portions of another book sold by him to impeach initial character evidence). Cf. HYDROLEVEL CORP. v. AMERICAN SOCIETY OF MECHANICAL ENGINEERS, INC., 635 F.2d 118 (2nd Cir. 1980), aff'd, 456 U.S. 556, 102 S. Ct. 1935, 72 L. Ed.2d 330 (1982) (newspaper article admissible to demonstrate the state of mind of those who reacted to it); EMICH MOTORS CORP. v. GENERAL MOTORS CORP., 181 F.2d 70 (7th Cir. 1950) (complaint letters received by defendant admissible to show the information upon which defendant acted against dealer complained of).

) .

A simple example will better illustrate our point. Assume that a young boy allows a beach ball to roll into the street; he chases it into the street; and he is struck by a truck driven by an employee of a corporation. Suit is brought against the corporation, which defends by urging that, although its driver saw the ball, he never saw the child and had no reason to anticipate his presence because of the character of the neighborhood. The plaintiff offers evidence that the corporation displays a poster in the room in which its drivers are assigned trucks every morning; the poster consists of an artist's rendition of a small boy chasing a ball in front of a stylized truck, and a

caption which reads: "Rolling balls are always followed by running children". This evidence clearly disproves the corporation's defense, since it proves that its driver was well-sensitized to the very hazard involved in the suit and clearly should have anticipated the boy's presence--but the poster is clearly "fiction". If the District Court is correct, the poster is inadmissible--not-withstanding that it is the very best evidence concerning what the corporation's driver should have anticipated under the circumstances known to him. $\frac{16}{}$

When the issue in any given case is what a particular defendant or employee knew or should have known, or how that defendant or employee should have conducted himself in a particular situation, it should make no difference that that knowledge was transmitted by a fictional device designed to teach, rather than a statement of actual fact. There is no good reason in law, logic, or public policy why such evidence should be "inadmissible" as a matter of law, as the District Court held below--and we trust that this Court is not prepared to make such a rule the law of Florida. The District Court was simply in error in concluding that PX. 24 was inadmissible for any purpose, merely because its recitations were fictional, and this Court therefore need not reach the defendants' contention here that the erroneous admission of PX. 24 was "harmful".

^{16/} Other examples come readily to mind, because knowledge is often transmitted by hypothetical or fictional account. Industrial safety rules, for example, are often promulgated in the form of fables and cartoons. Pilots are frequently educated concerning emergency procedures and accident prevention with hypothetical "worst case" scenarios of system failures and aircraft accidents. Doctors are taught the art of diagnosis by studying the symptoms of fictional patients. Lawyers are taught the principles of property law through the device of hypotheticals involving Blackacre and Whiteacre. Paramedics are taught the art of CPR on dummies. And nurses are taught the potential problems arising in patient care, as the evidence in this case shows, by fictionalized accounts of those patient problems.

b. The District Court's ground for holding the admission of PX. 24 erroneous was not preserved for review.

There is a second reason why this Court need not consider the defendants' contention here--it was never raised in the trial court. (In fact, it was not even raised in the District Court--a point which we shall address briefly infra.) Although the defendants objected to the admission of PX. 24 on several grounds, not one of them fairly asserted that PX. 24 was inadmissible on the ground upon which the District Court held it inadmissible --that the account was fictional rather than factual. $\frac{17}{}$ It is settled, of course, that before an appellate court can reverse a trial court for an evidentiary ruling, the record must reflect that the appellant objected below on the specific ground urged for reversal; a general objection will not suffice to preserve the issue for review, nor will an objection made on a ground other than the ground relied upon on appeal. LINEBERGER v. DOMINO CANNING CO., 68 So.2d 357 (Fla. 1953). Cf. CASTOR v. STATE, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). $\frac{18}{}$ Because the specific ground of objection urged here for exclusion of PX. 24 was not clearly and specifically raised in the trial court, the defendants' contention was unreviewable in the District Court, and it is therefore unreviewable here as well.

In addition, perhaps because they raised no such objection in the trial court, the defendants also did not urge in the District Court the objection

^{17/} The grounds asserted here: (1) that PX. 24 was "hearsay"; (2) that it was a "document written by someone else that hasn't been identified . . . other than as a handout that is given to the nurses"; (3) that "it doesn't relate to any training, experience, or any type of standard that would go into an intensive care unit in the training of the nurses"; (4) because of "the value of the damage that that is going to cause . . . when it doesn't really apply to this particular case because this nurse has just said that some other nurse gives that to the nurses by way of handout, she, herself, does not know"; and (5) that the document is "just a mismash of quotes from other people" which "doesn't say anything about any standard of care" (R. 1119-21).

^{18/} See, in addition, NAT HARRISON ASSOCIATES, INC. v. BYRD, 256 So.2d 50 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971); BOUTWELL v. BISHOP, 194 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1st DCA 1967); TABASKY v. DREYFUSS, 350 So.2d 520 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977).

now relied upon here. 19/ It is a well-settled rule of appellate review that matters not raised by the parties in their briefs cannot be considered by an appellate court. See, e.g., GIFFORD v. GALAXIE HOMES OF TAMPA, INC., 204 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1967); CITY OF MIAMI v. STECKLOFF, 111 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1959). 20/ The District Court therefore could not properly hold PX. 24 inadmissible on the ground that it was fictional rather than factual, and that issue is therefore not properly before this Court for that additional reason. Put another way, it would violate all settled rules of appellate review for this Court to order a new trial on the ground that PX. 24 was inadmissible because it was fictional rather than factual, when that ground was never raised in either the trial court or the District Court. For these additional reasons, this Court need not consider the defendants' contention here.

c. If PX. 24 was erroneously admitted, the error was harmless.

We turn finally to the defendants' contention that the District Court was "wrong to find the error harmless". Our initial problem with this argument is that we do not believe the appropriate standard of review is whether the District Court was "wrong". The determination of whether any given evidentiary error is harmful or harmless is essentially a discretionary determination, reviewable only for an abuse of discretion. See BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOS-

^{19/} The defendants argued below only that PX. 24 was "hearsay", and alternatively, that the prejudicial value of PX. 24 outweighed its probative value (an objection also not clearly raised in the trial court). Because the defendants have been content to reargue the admissibility of PX. 24 here only on the ground upon which the District Court held it inadmissible, there is no need for us to argue that the trial court would not have abused its discretion in overruling the alternative objection. Because of the settled rule that an appellant may not raise an issue for the first time in a reply brief, we do not anticipate that the defendants will re-raise their alternative objection in this proceeding. In the event such an argument is raised, however, we refer the Court to the argument which we made on that issue in the District Court, a copy of which is included in our appendix at pp. 67-74.

^{20/} See, in addition, TRUXELL v. TRUXELL, 259 So.2d 766 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972); LESPERANCE v. LESPERANCE, 257 So.2d 66 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1971).

PITAL, INC. v. BELL, 384 So.2d 145 (Fla. 1980) (trial court's determination that certain improprieties at trial were harmful rather than harmless was not reviewable as a matter of law by District Court, but reviewable only for abuse of discretion); SEARS, ROEBUCK & CO. v. JACKSON, 433 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983) (same). We therefore think that if this Court reaches this issue, the question to be decided is whether the District Court abused its discretion in determining that the error was harmless. Before such a conclusion can be reached, this Court must be convinced that <u>no</u> reasonable person could conclude that the error was harmless. CANAKARIS v. CANAKARIS, 382 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1980).

٦.

Section 59.041, Fla. Stat. (1981), reads in pertinent part as follows:

No judgment shall be set aside or reversed, or new trial granted by any court of the state in any cause, civil or criminal, on the ground of . . . the improper admission . . . of evidence. . ., unless in the opinion of the court to which application is made, after an examination of the entire case it shall appear that the error complained of has resulted in a miscarriage of justice. This section shall be liberally construed.

The defendants' contention that an error is harmful if it <u>might</u> <u>have</u> affected the result finds no support in this statute. The plain language of the statute requires that a judgment be affirmed unless an appellate court finds, after an examination of the entire case, that the error "<u>has</u> resulted in a miscarriage of justice". The final sentence of the statute makes it clear that close questions are to be resolved in favor of affirmance. 21/ Given the plain language

^{21/} There are, to be sure, a handful of decisions (as the defendants have noted) which appear to employ a "could have" test, or which appear to place the burden on an appellee to demonstrate "harmlessness". Because there are literally scores of decisions which state that an appellant has the burden of demonstrating that an error is prejudicial, the decisions on the subject would appear to be somewhat inconsistent. The apparent inconsistency is probably explained by the fact that the determination is essentially discretionary. In any event, whatever burden we had below was clearly shouldered--and, in this Court at least, the burden is clearly on the defendants to demonstrate prejudice of sufficient substance to overcome both the plain language of §59.041 and the District Court's unanimous conviction.

of the statute, and the District Court's perfectly reasonable explanation of its conclusion that the admission of PX. 24 did not result in a miscarriage of justice, we do not believe the defendants can shoulder their heavy burden of demonstrating an abuse of discretion here.

1

In the first place, the defendants' attempt to demonstrate that the evidence was a critical element in the result of the case involves an unfair bit of sleight-of-hand. The defendants quote our argument to the District Court that PX. 24 was of "importance to the plaintiff's case", and that "it is difficult to conceive of a more forceful piece of evidence . . . "--and they argue that we therefore conceded that PX. 24 had a dramatic effect on the amount of the damages awarded by the jury. We have been quoted (actually, only half-quoted) unfairly out of context, however, because our argument below related to the importance of the evidence to the liability issues in the case, not the damage issues. What we said (in its entirety) is that "it is difficult to conceive of a more forceful piece of evidence to prove the extreme sensitivity to a ventilator-patient's needs which the Hospital itself demanded of its own ICU nurses" (appellee's brief, p. 39). That is not a concession that the evidence was forceful on the damage issues. It was also not meant to be a concession that the evidence was critical on the liability issues, because our position below, as it is here, was that PX. 24 was merely corroborative and cumulative; its importance and forcefulness lay not in what it said, but simply in the fact that it came from the Hospital's own teaching curriculum.

The defendants refuse to debate us on the relevance of PX. 24 to the liability issues, however, and they make no contention that PX. 24 was harmful on those issues. Instead, they argue only that PX. 24 "would make the jury much more likely to give a huge amount of damages". We disagree. As the defendants have conceded, Susan's dependency on the respirator was not disputed. The defendants also do not deny that there is abundant evidence

that the Hospital's negligence caused Susan's suffocation. As the District Court noted, there is also abundant expert evidence concerning "the horror of respirator malfunction". 436 So.2d at 1033. Therefore, quite apart from PX. 24, the evidence fully demonstrated Susan's dependency, her suffocation, and its undeniable horror. PX. 24 proves, at worst, only that patients who are dependent upon a ventilator fear suffocation—and it was therefore merely cumulative of something already fully proven. In short, PX. 24 was merely a drop in a sea of similar evidence, not a critical centerpiece of the plaintiff's case. It is routinely held that the erroneous admission of cumulative evidence is harmless under §59.041, and there the matter should rest. $\frac{22}{\text{See}}$, $\frac{\text{e. g.}}{\text{e. g.}}$, ATLANTIC COAST LINE R. CO. v. GARY, 57 So.2d 10 (FIa. 1952). $\frac{23}{\text{cos}}$

₹,

It is also worth noting in conclusion, as the District Court pointed out, that "all reasonable persons live in great trepidation and awareness of asphyxiation whether it be by drowning or whatever". 436 So.2d at 1033. It is therefore perfectly clear that any juror who heard the facts in this case could have written PX. 24 himself--and any error in its admission was therefore

defendants' reliance upon STANLEY v. UNITED STATES FIDELITY & GUARANTY CO., 425 So.2d 608 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), is mis-STANLEY did not involve the erroneous admission of cumulative evidence; it involved a violation of the collateral source rule--in which the decisional law has developed a "per se prejudicial" rule. In addition, STAN-LEY does not hold, as the defendants appear to suggest, that the mere fact that counsel relies upon erroneously admitted evidence in closing argument makes admission of the evidence harmful. In this connection, it is worth noting that the reason why PX. 24 was read to the jury during closing argument in this case is that the trial court prevented plaintiffs' counsel from orally publishing it to the jury at the time it was admitted into evidence (R. 1122-25). Presumably, if the trial court had allowed publication of the exhibit at the time of its admission, it would not have been read in its entirety during closing argument. In any event, the mere fact that counsel resorted to PX. 24 in his closing argument provides no basis for a "per se prejudicial" holding in this case.

^{23/} See, in addition, DELTA RENT-A-CAR, INC. v. RIHL, 218 So.2d 469 (Fla. 4th DCA), cert. denied, 225 So.2d 535 (Fla. 1969); QUINN v. MILLARD, 358 So.2d 1378 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978); SEABOARD COAST LINE RAILROAD CO. v. HILL, 250 So.2d 311 (Fla. 4th DCA 1971), cert. discharged, 270 So.2d 359 (Fla. 1973); MYERS v. KORBLY, 103 So.2d 215 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1958).

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